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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A BILL relating to mandatory safety training for school bus drivers.   
 

Minutes:                                                 1-4 

 
Chairman Ruby opened the hearing on HB 1385. 
 
Representative Kathy Skroch, District 26, Lidgerwood, North Dakota, spoke to support 
HB 1385 and provided written testimony.  See attachment #1. (8:00) 
 
Representative Grueneich:  Could we combine this with HB 1369 since they are in the 
same part of Code? 
 
Representative Kathy Skroch:  I would rather have it stand alone than to take the risk of 
either concept failing based on objections to one or the other. 
 
Chairman Ruby:  Is the first part referring to any car or suburban?  Why is it listed twice? 
 
Representative Kathy Skroch:  It think it was this language that was needed to comply with 
both the mandating of bus drivers that are over that fifteen passenger limit to include the D 
drivers. 
 
Chairman Ruby:  In both cases it for non-commercial driver’s licenses. 
 
Representative Kathy Skroch:  Yes, that would be your D driver. 
 
Representative Grueneich:  You might see in some rural communities a suburban or a van 
that doesn’t fall in the 10-15 passenger category.  That is where that falls under. 
 
Representative Kathy Skroch:  Yes, that is the case. This bill is intended to cover any 
drivers, even D drivers with mini-buses.  Many are now using cars and vans, including 
parents.  As an experienced driver, I would prefer a full sized bus any day of the week as 
opposed to a mini-bus, which doesn’t have the same traction as a bus or have the same 
visual capability as a larger bus.  
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Chairman Ruby:  Your testimony says there is a minimal charge for the course; do you know 
how much it is? 
 
Representative Kathy Skroch:   It would be based on how many attend the class, so the 
cost is spread out from that instructor.  It can be anywhere from $25 to $50.  
 
Chairman Ruby:  Is that course replaced by the home course that you could take, or do you 
have to do both?   
 
Representative Kathy Skroch: The home course does just give you the DDC 4 training 
requirement, but you also could take your annual training requirement.  There are modules 
online. There are a lot of options available.  They do get compensation for spending the 4 
hours in training.  
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  If there was a school event that had four parents take 
basketball player to a game, would each parent have to go through this course? 
 
Representative Kathy Skroch:  It would be for a school vehicle only.   
 
ElRoy Berkle, Executive Director of North Dakota Small Organized Schools, spoke to 
support HB 1385.  See attachment #2. 
 
ElRoy Berkle:  You can take the DDC course for $41.25 online at the North Dakota Safety 
Council website.  You can do it online at home, and they keep track of it.  School districts can 
also have the course offered in a group setting. There is other online professional 
development for off years. 
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  Are schools buying Suburbans? 
 
ElRoy Berkle:  We are talking about school owned vehicles.  With the changes on Feb. 6, 
2020, what we will probably see is a reduction in CDL drivers because they will have to go 
through classroom curriculum and behind-the-wheel training. Since we already have a 
shortage of bus drivers.  Because of that, especially rural districts, will be looking at buying 
Suburbans more, so then a CDL driver won’t be required.  That is our prediction.   
 
Cecelia Cornine, student at U of Mary from New York, spoke to support HB 1385.  See 
attachment #3.   
 
There was no more testimony support for HB 1385. 
There was no testimony in opposition to HB 1385. 
 
Don Williams, Asst. Dir. Of School organizations, spoke in a neutral position on HB 1385.  
See attachment #4.  (29:10) 
 
Chairman Ruby:  Do you see as much of a need for this requirement on the smaller vehicles, 
like the 10-15 passenger ones? 
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Don Williams:  Anything over 10 passengers we consider a school bus. They have to be 
school bus yellow.  The white buses and charter buses are allowed for activities.  Safety is 
safety no what vehicle a driver is driving.  They should all have the same requirement to 
transport students.   
 
Chairman Ruby:  Are the 10-15 passenger vans allowed? 
 
Don Williams:  No, they are not. They are called non-conforming vans. 
 
Chairman Ruby:  In Subsection B why would we need the language if you are already 
requiring them to take the test and they are considered bus drivers? 
 
Don Williams:  The intent is to get into Century Code. 
 
Chairman Ruby:  The main result other than getting into Code, is to add the other smaller 
vehicles? 
 
Don Williams:  Yes.  
 
Representative Hager:  Would this law apply to people that are transporting children of the 
home schooled. 
 
Don Williams:  No, that is not regulated.  This is for contracted school bus drivers for public 
schools. 
 
The hearing was closed on HB 1385. 
 
Break. 
 
Chairman Ruby:  I’m not sure I agree with this for the Suburban type vehicles. 
 
Representative Grueneich:  I wonder from a liability standpoint that it wouldn’t put the 
school in a better positon if the person driving had had the DDC courses? 
 
Chairman Ruby:  Aren’t the insurance companies already doing that? 
 
Representative Westlind:  Are there any requirement for schools if they do drive a 
suburban, do they have to mark it by painting it yellow or mark it? 
 
Representative Jones:  The testimony said that all the school vehicles are painted yellow. 
It wouldn’t have to be painted yellow to transport to a speech meet or something of the sort. 
 
Representative Westlind:  Then the Suburbans should also have to conform to the bus 
driver regulations.  I think that the course would be a good idea.  
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  I think that the schools have the option to do this if they 
want to.   
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Representative Owens:  We are going amend by putting “and” in on line 16 and taking “and” 
out on line 19.  In addition to remove lines 20-21.   
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker moved the amendments.   
Representative Weisz seconded the motion. 
A voice vote was taken.  The motion carried. 
 
Representative Paulson:  Does DPI have the authority to require this testing without this 
statute without the regulation from DPI?   
 
Chairman Ruby:  If it is in administrative rules they do, but they want it in statute.  
 
Representative Grueneich moved a DO PASS on HB 1385 as amended. 
Representative Westlind seconded the motion. 
A roll call vote was taken:  Aye  12  Nay  1  Absent  1 
The motion carried.  
Representative Westlind will carry HB 1385.   
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A bill relating to mandatory safety training for school bus drivers. 
 

Minutes:                                                 3 Attachments 

 
Chairman Rust: Opened hearing on HB 1385. 
 
Representative Kathy Skroch, District 26, Lidgerwood, North Dakota: See Attachment 
#1 for testimony. 
 
Chairman Rust: I see the word DDC-4, what happens when DDC-5 comes out? 
 
Representative Skroch: I guess we’ll have to update this at the next legislative session. 
 
Chairman Rust: Or maybe we could say the latest DDC course? 
 
Representative Skroch: That would be an appropriate amendment. 
 
Chairman Rust: Who pays for this course that they’re to take? 
 
Representative Skroch: The school district usually pays for it. Unless you on your own are 
taking it to prepare for being an employee of a school. It is a nominal fee. The cost goes 
down the more people attend group setting instruction times. It is only every five years, so 
it’s not a terrible burden. A lot of the schools are already providing this, so they’re already 
absorbing this cost. 
 
Chairman Rust: They probably do it as part of their annual training. 
 
Representative Skroch: Yes. So they’re in compliance already, this just ensure that it’s in 
statute so that all will be in compliance. 
 
Chairman Rust: Will it make it harder to get bus drivers? 
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Representative Skroch: I don’t believe it will. From my experience, the bus drivers that 
attend these, they’re grateful for the opportunity to sit down with other bus drivers. As I said 
you can also get it right online. I personally sat down on my couch and had it done in four 
hours. 
 
Senator Bakke: Do you have a problem with us changing it to something more generic? 
 
Representative Skroch: I don’t have a problem with it as long as it’s understood that we 
mean the defensive driving course that is required of any other bus driver. 
 
Senator Bakke: That would be my recommendation, just say “complete the National Safety 
Council Defensive Driving Course Workshop,” and not specify a number. 
 
Representative Skroch: As long as that’s understood. I would go and reference too if I 
might, the change that was made in the House. We have a lot of minivans out there now that 
transport 8 students, we do have suburbans out there that are capable; I wouldn’t want to go 
lower than that. Six passengers then you might include just cars. I’ll leave that up to your 
discretion, but I would encourage the number be moved from 10 down to 8. 
 
Senator Clemens: I see in the bill; it’s just referring to school vehicles. So even if we go 
down 8-10 it’s only in school vehicles, so a personal vehicle would not apply; correct? 
 
Representative Skroch: That is correct, so if you as an employee of the school were 
transporting children in your personal vehicle, that would not require you to take this course. 
 
ElRoy Burkle, Executive Director, North Dakota Small Organized Schools: See 
Attachment #2 for testimony. The question earlier was; will this bill reduce the number of 
drivers? FMCSA will most likely add a lot of challenges especially to rural districts to recruit 
drivers. 
 
Chairman Rust: Are you in agreement about amending that to 8-10 then? It currently is at 
10-15. 
 
Mr. Burkle: I understand the intend behind 8, because you might get some Suburbans or 
like vehicles that are 8-passenger. I understand the concept; it would be the larger vehicle. 
I'm not opposed to it. It’s just, where is that fine line? That’s what I need to use your judgement 
on. The minibuses, yeah, they should have this requirement. So where do you draw the line 
would be my question. 
 
Senator Bakke: If you are driving a minivan or a suburban you do not need the bus driver’s 
license, correct? 
 
Mr. Burkle: Correct, you do not need a CDL. 
 
Senator Bakke: So in other words, we could have people that just are driving on their regular 
driver’s license. Which means they haven’t had to do the exam. They haven’t had to go 
through the defensive driving; we wouldn’t have all those requirements, that personally I feel 
they should have if they have children that aren’t theirs in that vehicle. 
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Mr. Burkle: No, (shared personal story). It’s says right here ALL DRIVERS. So if you're 
transporting kids, especially like a school van, school minibus without a CDL; you are to be 
of that annual training and once every five years you have the DDC. 
 
Aaron Birst, North Dakota Association of Counties: We support this bill. A lot of the 
counties involved primarily and unfortunately at least half of the fatalities that we see on our 
roads are county roads. We think this is a good bill that would help those rural communities 
making sure people are safe. I don’t see Brennan Quintus from the North Dakota Insurance 
Reserve Fund (NDIRF) here, but I have had conversations with him and he said even NDIRF 
would look to maybe try to help out on this program. They support the issue because 
obviously that helps all the rates. Just in terms of the counties, we’ve made a selection after 
this last conference that we had that we stand behind the Vision Zero program that the 
Department of Transportation and the Governor’s office support. So we’ve tried to look at 
every bill that comes through with the lens of Vision Zero. So if it promotes safety to make 
sure our kids and everybody who drives on the roads are safe then we support it. 
 
Don Williams, Assistant Director, School Organization, North Dakota Department of 
Public Instruction: See Attachment #3 for testimony. 
 
Senator Bakke: Does the DDC-4 workshop ever change to DDC-5 or DDC-6 or is it always 
DDC-4? Are we going to have to go in and change that number frequently? 
 
Mr. Williams: To my knowledge, since I’ve been here; which is going on five years, that has 
never changed. I’m a CD holder from quite a few years before that as well. I've never seen it 
change, but it’s not saying it couldn’t. I would think it would probably be prudent that we 
change it to just “Defensive Driving Course.” Whether the 4 lives on or ever changes, I think 
the “Defensive Driving Course” is something that will remain standard. 
 
Senator Fors: Can you explain on page 2 of the bill line 3 it says complete any annual 
training required by the Superintendent of Public Instruction? 
 
Mr. Williams: What that’s referring to, if there are training requirements that come up quicker 
that the rescheduling of the printing of the manual every five years. If there’s something that 
comes up like, we’re going to be going through a lot of changes with updates to FMCSA rules 
here in 2020. Which is convenient that its coming out the same time we’re scheduled to redo 
this manual. It’s a way for us to communicate with districts that there might be some training 
the comes along that isn’t laid out in this manual and if we contact you that training would be 
required as part of our annual training as well. 
 
Chairman Rust: Bus drivers are required every year to have training, is that not correct? 
 
Mr. Williams: That is correct. 
 
Chairman Rust: That’s been going on for years. That has been a standard of being able to 
drive a bus, was to attend the annual bus drivers workshop, correct? 
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Mr. Williams: That’s correct. As far back as I can reach into this manual annual training has 
been required of all school bus drivers. 
 
Senator Dwyer: Is that for the CDL ones? 
 
Mr. Williams: It’s all bus drivers. What the department deems as a bus is anything that has 
a rated capacity of ten passengers or more. As the guide reads: in addition, all regular, 
substitute and activity bus drivers are required by Department of Public Instruction to attend 
the following training programs; and one of them is the annual training workshop. So it is all 
bus drivers. 
 
Chairman Rust: Does a bus driver have to have a CDL? 
 
Mr. Williams: No they do not. Anything with a rated capacity of 16 or more and there’s a 
weight in there too, I think it’s 26001 lbs; then they have to be a CDL holder. This training 
specifically is for all bus drivers. 
 
Senator Dwyer: 16 or more are CDL? 
 
Mr. Williams: 16 or more are CDL, what we consider a bus driver is 10 or more. 
 
Senator Bakke: Who pays for this training? The school district? 
 
Mr. Williams: I assume that. I would guess that the district is picking up this tab, because I 
know a lot of the online training has a dollar sign attached to it as well. I assume that. We 
don’t track or record that or collect it, so I'm just guessing the district picks up the doe on this 
one. 
 
Senator Bakke: My thinking is if we’re requiring this then we should be paying for it, we 
shouldn’t be expecting the bus drivers to pay for it. 
 
Mr. Burkle: The online training today is very affordable and accessible. NDSOS works 
through Vertical Alliance, for $20 they can take 150 modules if they want and they do it all 
online. The DDC through North Dakota Safety Council is online or they can do it as a group, 
but it’s there. So if anybody says “I can’t get it” they haven’t found it. 
 
Chairman Rust: Closed hearing on HB 1385. 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A bill relating to mandatory safety training for school bus drivers. 
 

Minutes:                                                 2 Attachments 

 
Chairman Rust: Opened discussion on HB 1385. Handed out Attachments #1-2. Review 
of bill and prior discussion. 
 
Senator Dwyer: I move a Do Pass. 
 
Senator Bakke: I Second the motion. 
 
Senator Fors: On page 2 line 3. I never did get an answer when I asked the question as to 
what, “compete the annual training required by the Superintendent of Public Instruction” 
means. 
 
Chairman Rust: I believe the Superintendent of Public Instruction is the one who is 
responsible for administrative code and that is the person we have designated from the 
state level to make sure that we have drivers that are properly certified, have the proper 
licenses, training and so forth. It’s a top down when you do it at the state level; and since it 
deals with schools, that’s been assigned to the State Superintendent of Public Instruction. 
 
Senator Fors: So she can mandate any training that she desires? 
 
Chairman Rust: That individual is designated to make sure that they complete … 
 
Senator Fors: Or it only pertains to school bus drivers? 
 
Chairman Rust: School bus drivers, yes. Well, if the vehicle being used to transport 
students or other passengers is a school vehicle for which a commercial driver's license is 
not required, but which is designed to seat ten to fifteen passengers. The individual must 
hold a North Dakota driver’s license, have a physical, complete annual training that’s 
required by the Superintendent of Public Instruction and be 21 years or older. Now we are 
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adding a defensive driving course within the first year of employment and at least once 
every five years thereafter. 
 
Senator Bakke: Could that annual training be the defensive driving course? It could be that 
every five years their annual training is the defensive driving course. 
 
Chairman Rust: Absolutely, that’s what I went through when I was a superintendent. 
Sometimes it was probably less than five years, because you have a certain turnover of 
drivers. If I recall correctly bus drivers were not too unhappy about that, because for three 
years they get a discount on their personal insurance premiums. 
 
Senator Bakke: This Don Williams that was in talking to us is the one that the 
Superintendent of Public Instruction has put in charge of the transportation of children. He 
was the one who came and talked to us. 
 
Chairman Rust: He told us there are many online opportunities to take it. He said that 
buses 16-passenger or greater require CDL, buses 10-passenger or more require annual 
training but don’t require a CDL. 
 
Senator Fors: But now they would require this course. 
 
Chairman Rust: This would be a requirement. It’s probably being done universally in North 
Dakota already. I don’t think it’s onerous, I don’t think it’s something that’s above and 
beyond. 
 
Roll Call Vote Taken: 
Motion Passes 6-0-0 
Carrier: Bakke 
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